# STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

ISSUE NO. 1:	WHETHER THE APPELLANT'S STATEMENT TO LAW ENFORCEMENT OFFICERS WAS FREE AND VOLUNTARY?
ISSUE NO. 2:	WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED BY ALLOWING THE STATE TO INTRODUCE IMPROPER LAY OPINION EVIDENCE ABOUT THE DEFENDANT'S MENTAL STATUS?
ISSUE NO. 3:	DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR BY DISALLOWING THE DEFENSE TO INTRODUCE EVIDENCE ABOUT THE APPELLANT'S MENTAL CONDITION?
ISSUE NO. 4:	WHETHER JURY INSTRUCTION C-4 REGARDING CULPABLE NEGLIGENCE PROPERLY STATED THE LAW?
ISSUE NO. 5:	WHETHER THE STATE WAS ALLOWED TO IMPROPERLY BOLSTER ITS CASE WITH IMPROPER REDIRECT EXAMINATION OF STATE WITNESSES?
ISSUE NO. 6:	WHETHER THE APPELLANT WAS PREJUDICED BY IMPROPER CLOSING ARGUMENT OUTSIDE THE EVIDENCE?
ISSUE NO. 7:	WHETHER A VERDICT OF MANSLAUGHTER INSTEAD OF MURDER WAS APPROPRIATE?

#### **STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

This appeal proceeds from judgments of conviction for the crimes of murder and arson in the fourth degree against Mikimie "Kim" Tenille Brown resulting in a life sentence plus two concurrent years from the Circuit Court of Marion County, Mississippi, following a trial held October 9-11, 2006, Honorable Michael R. Eubanks , Circuit Judge, presiding. Ms. Brown is presently incarcerated with the Mississippi Department of Corrections.

#### **STATEMENT OF THE FACTS**

Gerald Dillon did not report to work at B. J. Services Company in Columbia MS on the morning of December 12, 2000. [T. 171-75]. So, two of his co-workers went to Gerald's home on Highway 35 South in Marion County MS to check on him. While looking through his kitchen door window, they saw Gerald's lifeless body laying face down on the kitchen floor with a fatal gunshot through his chest. *Id.* [Ex. 11, 12, 16].

Investigators with the Marion County Sheriff's Department and Mississippi Highway Patrol determined that one of Gerald's girlfriends, Kim Brown, the appellant here, was a suspect in the shooting; and, a search warrant was obtained and executed at the home of Kim's father on whose property she resided in a separate mobile home. [T. 256-57]. A 9 mm Ruger pistol belonging to Kim's father was recovered which was later identified as the weapon from which the fatal round was fired which ended Mr. Dillon's life. [T. 237-41, 258; Exs. 38, 45].

While investigators were executing the warrant, Kim arrived at her father's house and she was asked to give an interview at the Sheriff's office. [T. 259]. Ms. Brown was purportedly *Mirandized*, and, thereafter gave the investigating officers a written inculpatory statement without counsel. [T. 260-85; Ex. 53]. In this alleged statement, Ms. Brown reported that Gerald Dillon was accidently shot during an argument that got physical. *Id*.

Kim stated she and the victim Gerald were dating and that she went to his house early on the morning of the shooting to talk about their relationship and the fact that she recently miscarried his child. [T. 249-51]. Kim brought a gun with her to Gerald's house because she was afraid, based on past physical abuse by Gerald, that he would hurt her again. [T. 271]. Kim further stated that when she entered Gerald's home, they exchanged words, he grabbed her and the gun discharged. [T. 282-85]. Kim also allegedly admitted that, before she left Gerald's house the morning of the shooting, she attempted to set his pick-up truck on fire by putting a bag in the gas tank and lighting it, but the fire went out. [T. 280].

Another woman, Lateya Watts, was in Gerald's house when the shooting took place. Lateya spent the night with Gerald the night before he was shot. Lateya overheard the discussion between Gerald and Kim before the shooting, which she described in a written statement and on cross examination as "arguing and Gerald put his hand in

3

[Kim's] face" after which Kim said, "[i]f you put your hand in my face one more time, I swear....".[T.123]. According to Lateya, Kim came to Gerald's home the night before the shooting and attempted to gain entry of the residence but was unsuccessful. [T. 114]. Kim returned early the next morning whereupon Kim and Gerald exchanged words in the living room. [T. 103]. According to Lateya, she heard a gunshot and saw a muzzle flash, but did not see much else until Gerald stumbled into the kitchen and fell to the floor in front of her. [T. 108] Then, according to Lateya, Kim then entered the kitchen and pointed a pistol at her; Lateya pushed the gun away and it fired. [T. 109]. After the gun fired, Lateya fell to the floor and was subsequently able to convince Kim to allow her to get her shoes on and leave. Before Lateya left, Kim threatened that if she told anyone about what had occurred, Kim would come after her. [T. 110-11]. Investigators found two spent projectiles, the one that killed Gerald, and the one that missed Lateya. [T. 223-25].

Donovan Abram testified for the state that accompanied Kim to Gerald's house the morning of the shooting unaware of any expected confrontation. [T. 140-56]. Donovan dropped Kim off and waited; when Kim returned to the car, Donovan said she tossed a pistol on the floorboard and told Donovan on the way home that she shot Gerald and wanted to go back to see about him. *Id*. Donovan refused to go back. He was charged as an accessory after the fact, pled guilty, and was sentenced to one year to serve concurrent with a federal sentence he was serving for attempted bank larceny. [T. 141-42].

4

The state was allowed, over objection, to introduce evidence that Kim had threatened Gerald before the shooting. [T. 184, 19, 201-204]. The court also allowed the defense to introduce evidence of ongoing abuse of Kim by Gerald. [T. 338-47].

There was a motion to suppress Kim's statement to the officers based on Kim's history of mental problems, coercion and promises of leniency by the officers. [R. 52-54; Supp. Vols. 2 and 3]. The motion to suppress was denied without any specific findings except that the statement was "knowingly [and] intelligently" given. [Supp. Vol. 3, pp 184-85].

The defense also requested to introduce evidence of Kim's mental illness, including post traumatic stress disorder and borderline personality disorder, during its case in chief, but the trial court denied this request. [R. 146, 174; T. 350-52]. Based on the evidence of prior abuse from Gerald, defense counsel argued self-defense and accident in closing. [T. 371-90].

Kim was indicted for murder, aggravated assault, and arson in the fourth degree. [R. 9-10]. She was acquitted in count II of aggravated assault, and found guilty of murder and arson, fourth degree.[R. 354-55; T. 412-13].

### SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Ms. Brown's trial was irreparably flawed and rendered unfair by the admission of an involuntary statement, improper jury instructions, bolstering by the state, introduction of incompetent opinion evidence, improper closing argument and exclusion of defense evidence by the trial court. The verdict of murder was not supported by the evidence.

#### **ARGUMENT**

## ISSUE NO. 1: WHETHER THE APPELLANT'S STATEMENT TO LAW ENFORCEMENT OFFICERS WAS FREE AND VOLUNTARY?

The defense filed a motion to suppress Kim's purported inculpatory written statement. [R. 52-54]. At the hearing, Dr. Shirley M. Beall, a psychologist with the Forensic Unit of the Mississippi State Hospital at Whitfield testified for the state. [R. 86-88; Supp Vol. 3 p. 108 ]. Dr. Beall participated in the mental evaluation of Kim pursuant to an order from the circuit court in this case. [*Id.*, and Supp. Vol. 3 at p. 110]. Dr. Beall offered the opinions that even though she was "suffering from a severe personality disorder, borderline personality disorder" [Supp. Vol. 3 p.116], Kim had the "ability" to form the intent to commit the crimes charged in this case, and was not acting under "a diminished capacity at the time of the alleged crimes", and did not and does not suffer from "any definable or recognizable mental condition or disease." Dr. Beall said Kim understood and comprehended the nature of her actions and that she understood the difference between "right and wrong" at the time of the crime, and that she was

6

competent to stand trial. [Supp. Vol. 3, pp. 114-21].

Dr. Beall described Kim's borderline personality disorder as follows:

It's a pervasive pattern of instability in inner personal relationships and self image, and a lot of times, usually your cognizance abilities are affected by it, and an increase impulsivity. It's characterized by somebody who suffers an intent fear of being abandoned or rejected by others, and they'll go to all sorts of extremes to try to keep from being abandoned by someone else. They will behave impulsively. Frequently, they make a number of suicide attempts, gestures, threats, behaviors. Again, their self image changes quite frequently, and they'll be high on themselves for a while, and they quit right before they complete a course or something. It's a very unstable self image, also. [Supp. Vol. 3, p. 119].

On cross examination, Dr. Beall reviewed Kim's mental health history going back to 1999 which included hearing voices and suicide attempts; a diagnosis in 2001 was "major depression, ... severe, with psychotic features...". [Supp. Vol. 3. pp. 124-26]. Dr. Beall also felt that Kim was "malingering" symptoms of psychosis. [Supp. Vol. 3, p. 145].

In support of the motion to suppress Kim's statement, the defense presented the testimony of Dr. Jean Hawks, a clinical psychologist in private practice.<sup>1</sup> [Supp. Vol. 3, p.148 ]. Dr. Hawks examined Kim in April 2001. Dr. Hawks' opined that on the day of the shooting, Kim suffered from "major depression with psychotic features" and "post traumatic stress disorder", a malady which often includes "hyper vigilance" and "exaggerated startle reflex". [Supp. Vol. 3, pp.151-52]. Perhaps more importantly, Dr.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Dr. Jean Hawks' testimony was also proffered under the defendant's Motion To Present Evidence of Diminished Capacity, which is addressed in Issue 3, *infra*. [T. 350-52].

Hawks had the opinion that Kim suffered from diminished capacity at the time of the alleged criminal acts. [Supp. Vol. 3, p. 152].

Dr. Hawks reported that in her interviews, Kim was "quite angry, saying "that she had been told that if she just went ahead and gave a statement, they [the investigating officers] would make sure that she . . . would have a lower bond and be able to go home and be with her children, and ... that they'd make sure that she got in front of ... Judge Prichard. " [Supp. Vol. 3, p. 155].

The motion to suppress was overruled. [Supp. Vol. 3, pp. 184-85] In ruling on Ms. Brown's motion to suppress, the trial court made no detailed findings except, without indicating what burden of proof was used, the following:

... I think she knowingly, intelligently gave the statement. Now, whether it was voluntarily by the fact that there was this allegation of lower bond to go home with, and the issue about which Judge it might come before – the only facts I have is just what she told the doctor, but – and so based on that, I would not suppress it ... Id.

In Carley v. State, 739 So. 2d 1046, 1500 (Miss. App. 1999), the court said,

[t]he privilege against self-incrimination secured by the Fifth and Fourteenth Amendments to the U.S. Constitution and by Article 3, § 26 of the Mississippi Constitution renders an involuntary confession inadmissible. *Neal v. State*, 451 So. 2d 743, 750 (Miss.1984); *Morgan v. State*, 681 So. 2d 82, 87 (Miss.1996). When the voluntariness of a confession is put in issue, the burden falls on the State to prove the voluntariness of the confession beyond a reasonable doubt. [Cites omitted]. The State meets that burden by offering the testimony of those individuals having knowledge of the facts that the confession was given without threats, coercion, or offer of reward. [Cites omitted]. The *Carley* court reiterated that a trial judge is the "fact finder" in the determination of voluntariness and the trial court's decision is reviewed under a standard of clearly erroneous, but added, "[h]owever, our review of the voluntariness of an accused's confession is less constrained where the trial judge fails to make detailed and specific findings on critical issues." *Id*.

Carley, who was 14 years old, suffered with psychosis and hallucinations. He was diagnosed with post traumatic stress disorder and gave a statement after interrogating officers invoked religious salvation, leniency and hopes of reward. The Supreme Court found his statement involuntary, saying "[w]hile the accused's mental weakness may not be the sole reason to exclude a confession, when coupled with overreaching interrogation tactics, it may become the basis for the exclusion of a confession." 739 So. 2nd 1053.

In Williamson v. State, 330 So. 2d 272, 276 (Miss. 1976), the court said

[a] confession will not ordinarily be excluded merely because the person making the confession is mentally weak. Until it is shown that a weak-minded person has been overreached to the end that he has divulged that which he would not have divulged had he not been overreached, his voluntary confession is admissible.

In the present case, similar to *Carley, supra*, Kim Brown was diagnosed with a severe personality disorder, and reported hallucinations and psychotic symptoms according to according to both doctors who testified. According to Dr. Hawks, Kim was unstable susceptible to suggestion to do what people wanted her or told her to do. [Supp. Vol. 3, pp 154-55].

According to the *Carley* decision, *supra*, a totality of the circumstances approach mandates that the trial judge perform an "evaluation of the juvenile's age, experience, education, background, and intelligence, and into whether he has the capacity to understand the warning given him, the nature of his Fifth Amendment rights, and the consequences of waiving those rights." 739 So. 2d 1053.

As in the present case, the trial judge in *Carley* "failed to make detailed and specific findings" in deciding whether Carley freely and voluntary waived his rights. Therefore, the Court is not now restrained by the usual "clearly erroneous" standard used in its evaluation of the trial court's ruling. *Id* at 154.

*Neal v. State*, 451 So. 2d 743 (Miss. 1984), is a seminal Mississippi authority on this issue, procedurally and substantively. Neal gave a confession to authorities that he committed capital murder, by kidnaping and killing a young girl. *Id* at 747-49.

During the suppression hearing in *Neal*, evidence was presented that he was mentally retarded, suffered from dementia, and his IQ was measured at 54 placing him at the "low end of the mild mental retardation range." *Id.* p. 752 Expert testimony was offered that Neal could not understand the Miranda warnings "unless they were explained carefully and in extremely simple terms." *Id.* 

The state in *Neal* put on expert testimony that the defendant's IQ was 60 and that he had faked the IQ test and that there was no evidence of an organic dementia, and that in the expert's opinion, Neal understood the *Miranda* warnings. *Id.* There was also proof that Neal was married, had a family, and held several jobs, which went to establishing an

ability to live interdependently in society. Id. p. 752.

The *Neal* Court stated the following:

... the mere giving of the *Miranda* warnings, no matter how meticulous, no matter how often repeated, does not render admissible any inculpatory statement thereafter given by the accused. The rights of which the accused is Miranda-warned must thereafter be waived -- intelligently, knowingly and voluntarily. Whether there has been an intelligent, knowing and voluntary waiver is essentially a factual inquiry to be determined by the trial judge from the totality of the circumstances. *Id* at p. 753.

\* \* \*

When an accused makes an in-custody inculpatory statement without the advice or presence of counsel, even though warnings and advise regarding his privilege against selfincrimination have been fully and fairly given, the State shoulders a heavy burden to show a knowing and intelligent waiver. *Id.* 

The state carry's the burden to prove voluntariness beyond a reasonable doubt. Id.

In his voluntariness determination, the trial judge must first determine whether the accused, prior to the confession, <u>understood</u> (a) the content and substance of the *Miranda* warnings and (b) the nature of the charges of which he was accused or with respect to which he was under investigation. *Id.* p. 755.

The Neal court explained that Neal's waiver was knowing, voluntary and

intelligent; because, the confession developed over three days of very careful, low-key

interrogation and questioning. 451 So. 2d 756. The Neal court found a "credible basis

for a finding that Neal was capable of understanding -- and intelligently relinquishing -- his constitutional privilege against self-incrimination." *Id.* 756-57.

In the present case, as opposed to *Neal*, there was relatively brief questioning of Kim Brown. [T. 36, 45, 87-88] The setting was subtly coercive, during a time when Kim was arguably psychotic and could not have rationally understood her legal rights. Coupled with the alleged promises of reward, it could not be said beyond a reasonable doubt, that Kim's confession was freely and voluntarily, and knowingly given. A new trial is respectfully requested.

In the following cases, the Mississippi Supreme Court has determined that confessions were involuntary due to youth, mental weakness or low intelligence: *Ford v. State*, 21 So. 524 (Miss. 1897), *Hamilton v. State*, 27 So. 606 (1900), *Harvey v. State*, 207 So. 2d 108 (Miss. 1968), *Dover v. State*, 227 So. 2d 296 (Miss. 1969).

## ISSUE NO. 2: WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED BY ALLOWING THE STATE TO INTRODUCE IMPROPER LAY OPINION EVIDENCE ABOUT THE DEFENDANT'S MENTAL STATUS?

During the testimony of Mississippi Highway Patrol Investigator Darrel Perkins, over objection, the trial court allowed the state to introduce a lay opinion that Kim Brown did not appear to be suffering from "any mental disease or illness". [T. 300]. Investigator Perkins was not qualified as an expert in any field.

In Jackson v. State, WL 584375, Miss. App., February 27, 2007 (No. 2004-KA-

#### 01460-COA), the court said:

The decision whether a witness is qualified as an expert in fields of scientific knowledge is one left to the discretion of the circuit court. *Cowart* v. *State*, 910 So. 2d 726 (¶ 11) (Miss.. App.2005). We will only reverse the circuit court if the decision was clearly erroneous. *Id*. That is, we will not reverse the circuit court's decision unless it is clear that the witness was not qualified. *Id*. Additionally, an expert's testimony is always subject to M.R.E. 702 . To give a M.R.E. 702 opinion, a witness must have "experience or expertise beyond that of an average adult." *Id*.

It is the appellant's position here that the state, was permitted to cross the

boundaries established by Miss. R. Evid. Rules 701 and 702; and, a witness not qualified

as an expert, was allowed to posit an "expert" opinion disguised as a "lay" opinion.<sup>2</sup>

This testimony prejudiced Kim Brown because it was used to suggest that she was not

2

#### **RULE 701. OPINION TESTIMONY BY LAY WITNESSES**

If the witness is not testifying as an expert, the witness's testimony in the form of opinions or inferences is limited to those opinions or inferences which are (a) rationally based on the perception of the witness,(b) helpful to the clear understanding of the testimony or the determination of a fact in issue, and (c) not based on scientific, technical, or other specialized knowledge within the scope of Rule 702.

#### Comment

The traditional rule regarding lay opinions has been, with some exceptions, to exclude them from evidence. Rule 701 is a departure from the traditional rule. It favors the admission of lay opinions when two considerations are met. The first consideration is the familiar requirement of first-hand knowledge or observation. The second consideration is that the witness's opinion must be helpful in resolving the issues. Rule 701, thus, provides flexibility when a witness has difficulty in expressing the witness's thoughts in language which does not reflect an opinion. Rule 701 is based on the recognition that there is often too thin a line between fact and opinion to determine which is which.

The 2003 amendment of Rule 701 makes it clear that the provision for lay opinion is not an avenue for admission of testimony based on scientific, technical or specialized knowledge which must be admitted only under the strictures of Rule 702.

#### **RULE 702. TESTIMONY BY EXPERTS**

If scientific, technical, or other specialized knowledge will assist the trier of fact to understand the evidence or to determine a fact in issue, a witness qualified as an expert by knowledge, skill, experience, training, or education, may testify thereto in the form of an opinion or otherwise, if (1) the testimony is based upon sufficient facts or data, (2) the testimony is the product of reliable principles and methods, and (3) the witness has applied the principles and methods reliably to the facts of the case. suffering from any mental problems when the state's own expert was of the opinion the defendant had severe post traumatic stress disorder as expressed in the hearing on the defendant's motion to suppress. [Supp. Vol. 3, pp. 116, 119].

To determine if Kim Brown suffered from any mental problems, the jury would need expert testimony, just as the trial court needed expert testimony in the motion to suppress. If scientific testimony is found to assist the trier of fact under Rule 702, according to the court in *Whittington v. State*, 523 So. 2d 966, 975 (Miss. 1988), [w]here a "record does not reveal . . . any specific scientific or technical training or experience" on the part of the witness "which qualifie[s] him as an expert, [it is] error for the circuit judge to permit [the witness] to express [an] opinion . . . ."

In Palmer v. Volkswagen of America, Inc., 905 So. 2d 564, 588 (Miss. App. 2003), there was objection to a lay opinion about an air bag equipped automobile; the Court of Appeals said in reversing:

In Sample v. State, [643 So. 2d 524, 530 (Miss. 1994)], our supreme court stated that, while there is a very thin line between lay testimony and expert opinion, there is a bright line rule: "[t]hat is, where, in order to express the opinion, the witness must possess some experience or expertise beyond that of the average, randomly selected adult, it is a Rule 702 opinion and not a Rule 701 opinion" *Id.* at 529-30. [The witness'] explanation of how tank testing works, ... certainly required experience or expertise beyond that of the average, randomly selected adult..... It was expert testimony. The trial court abused its discretion by allowing [this] testimony to stray into the realm of scientific, technical and specialized knowledge that only could be admitted as expert testimony after assessment pursuant to Rule 702.

On certiorari, in Palmer v. Volkswagen of America, Inc., 904 So. 2d 1077, 1092

(Miss. 2005), the Supreme Court concurred with the Court of Appeals, finding the plaintiff was prejudiced by improper opinion testimony and stating:

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