#### IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

MIKIMIE TENILLE BROWN

**APPELLANT** 

FILED

JUL 2 0 2007

NO. 2006-KA-2058-COA

OFFICE OF THE CLERK SUPREME COURT COURT OF APPEALS

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

VS.

APPELLEE

#### BRIEF FOR THE APPELLEE

APPELLEE DOES NOT REQUEST ORAL ARGUMENT

JIM HOOD, ATTORNEY GENERAL

BY: JEFFREY A. KLINGFUSS

SPECIAL ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL

MISSISSIPPI BAR NO.

JUSTIN T. HAYDEN ADMITTED TO LIMITED PRACTICE ATTORNEY GENERAL LEGAL INTERN

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL POST OFFICE BOX 220 JACKSON, MS 39205-0220 TELEPHONE: (601) 359-3680

###

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

#### **SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT**

The State produced overwhelming evidence to prove beyond a reasonable doubt that Mikimie "Kim" Brown was guilty of murder and attempted arson. She knowingly, intelligently and voluntarily waived her rights, confessed to these crimes in a written statement, received a fair trial and if there were any evidentiary flaws contained therein, they were "harmless" errors.

### STANDARD OF REVIEW

- Issue 1: Abuse of Discretion. Qualls v. State, 947 So.2d 365 (Miss.App. 2007).
- Issue 2: Abuse of Discretion. Id.
- Issue 3: Abuse of Discretion. Id.
- Issue 4: All instructions read and considered together.
- Issue 5: Clear abuse of discretion. *Qualls v. State*, 947 So.2d 365 (Miss.App. 2007).
  - Issue 6: Abuse of discretion Garrett v. State, 956 So.2d 229 (Miss.App. 2006).
  - Issue 7: In light most favorable to the State, drawing all inferences in favor of the verdict below. *Jernigan v. Humphrey*, 815 So.2d 1149 (Miss. 2002).

#### **ARGUMENT**

I.

THERE WAS NO ABUSE OF DISCRETION IN THE TRIAL COURT RULING THE STATEMENT OF DEFENDANT ADMISSIBLE.

In this initial allegation of trial court error defendant avers the statement given to police was involuntary.

Prior to trial an extensive hearing was held with testimony from the officers, and expert mental health witnesses. At the conclusion of the hearing the trial court did not suppress the statements.

The applicable standard of appellate review for this issue, is:

¶ 18.... The standard of review for a trial judge's ruling on a motion to suppress evidence is well established. This Court must decide whether there was substantial, credible evidence to support the trial judge's ruling. Culp v. State, 933 So.2d 264, 274(¶ 26) (Miss.2005). This ruling must not be disturbed by our Court unless such substantial, credible evidence is absent. Ray v. State, 503 So.2d 222, 223-24 (Miss.1986). Further, admission of evidence is within the discretion of the trial court, and can only be reversed upon abuse of its discretion. Crawford v. State, 754 So.2d 1211, 1215(¶ 7) (Miss.2000).

Qualls v. State, 947 So.2d 365 (Miss.App. 2007).

The trial transcript of the suppression hearing is replete with testimony supporting the ruling of the trial court. Albeit there is conflicting testimony, but it was the duty of the trier of fact to evaluate the testimony. There being legally sufficient to support the trial court's finding and no abuse of discretion no relief

should be granted on this initial allegation of error.

# THE COURT BELOW DID NOT ERR BY ALLOWING THE INTERVIEWING OFFICER TO ANSWER AS TO WHETHER OR NOT THE DEFENDANT APPEARED TO BE MENTALLY ILL.

At trial, Officers Tim Singley and Darrell Perkins were questioned about the defendant at the time she waived her Miranda rights, interviewed with police and offered a written confession. State's counsel first asked Officer Singley if he had experience dealing with anyone under the influence of drugs, alcohol and mentally disturbed individuals. (T. 264) He replied in the affirmative to each question. *Id.* Officer Singley was then asked if the defendant appeared to be under the influence of drugs, alcohol or mentally disturbed, to which he answered that Brown did not appear so. Counsel for Brown offered no objection to this line of questioning. Later, Officer Perkins (a veteran officer with over thirteen years of experience) was asked the same line of questioning, to which he offered the same affirmative answers as Officer Singley. Counsel for Brown objected to the question: "...did she appear to be suffering from any mental disease or illness?" (T. 301) The grounds for objection was that Officer Perkins was not qualified as an expert to give such an opinion. (T. 301.)

The Officer simply offered lay testimony on the <u>appearance</u> of the defendant while she was in their custody. While they probably have more experience than

most people in dealing with individuals with drug, alcohol and mentally problems, appearance of such requires no special knowledge or training and thus should be considered lay, rather than expert, opinion. Miss. R. Evid. Rules 701 and 702.

The courts of Mississippi for long have held that lay testimony is admissible to prove a defendant's mental capacity. *Porter v. State*, 492 So. 2d 970, 973 (Miss. 1986); *Groseclose v. State*, 440 So. 2d 297, 301 (Miss. 1983). Lay person experience is often immediately before or after a crime and can sometimes have as much, if not more, weight than expert testimony in instances where the mental defense is raised. *Lias v. State*, 362 So. 2d 198, 201 (Miss. 1978).

After Brown raised mental illness defenses to her waiver of Miranda rights and the admittance of her written confession, Officer Perkins should have been allowed to comment on the appearance of the defendant. The judge was correct to overrule Brown's objection and admit the answer. Otherwise, if such was an error, it certainly is not reversible in light of the overwhelming evidence against the defendant.

# THE COURT BELOW PROPERLY DENIED DEFENDANT'S MOTION TO INTRODUCE EVIDENCE OF DIMINISHED CAPACITY

The defendant petitioned the court below to have the testimony of Dr. Jean Hawks, who testified at a pre-trial hearing as to Brown's diminished capacity, into evidence. (R. at 146-47.) After viewing such evidence, on more than one occasion, the circuit judge correctly denied petitioner's motions. (R. at 174; T. 215.) The Supreme Court of Mississippi has recently held on at least two occasions that "diminished capacity" is not a defense to criminal charges. *Stevens v. State*, 867 So.2d 219 (Miss. 2003); *Garcia v. State*, 828 So.2d 1279 (Miss. 2002). See also *Edwards v. State*, 441 So.2d 84, 88 (Miss. 1983); *Hill v. State*, 339 So.2d 1382, 1385 (Miss. 1976).

Additionally, although not cited, the Circuit Judge had discretion under Mississippi Rules of Evidence Rule 403, to deny the admission of this testimony, as it had the potential to confuse or mislead the jury, and most assuredly would have been a waste of time.

## IV. THE JURY WAS PROPERLY INSTRUCTED ON 'CULPABLE NEGLIGENCE' AS DEFINED BY LAW.

As the Mississippi Supreme has recently held:

¶ 22. Miss.Code Ann. § 97-3-47 concerns culpable negligence and provides:

Every other killing of a human being, by the act, procurement, or culpable negligence of another, and without authority of law, not provided for in this title, shall be manslaughter.

"Thus, culpable negligence is defined as 'the conscious and wanton or reckless disregard of the probabilities of fatal consequences to others as a result of the wilful creation of an unreasonable risk thereof." Evans v. State, 562 So.2d 91, 94 (Miss.1990) (citing Smith v. State, 197 Miss. 802, 20 So.2d 701, 701 (1945)). This Court more recently defined manslaughter by culpable negligence as "such gross negligence ... as to evince a wanton or reckless disregard for the safety of human life, or such an indifference to the consequences of an act under the surrounding circumstances as to render such conduct tantamount to willfulness." Shumpert v. State, 935 So.2d 962, 967 (Miss.2006) (citing Evans v. State, 562 So.2d 91, 95 (Miss.1990)).

Chandler v. State, 946 So.2d 355 (Miss. 2006)(emphasis added).

Looking to the record, the court's instruction C-4 (Jury Instruction 10) closely followed the language as approved in *Chandler*. Such instruction and language was cited approvingly and cannot now be held error.

Additionally, there was no objection to the instruction or the language not claimed as error. Consequently, this issue is also procedurally barred as having been waived.

¶ 56. This Court has strictly enforced the rule that, in order to preserve a jury instruction issue for appellate purposes, a defendant must make specific, on-the-record objections to proposed instructions.

Killen v. State, 2007 WL 1080391 (Miss. 2007).

Accordingly, this issue is procedurally barred as having been waived.

Alternatively, it is also without merit as the instruction, as given, was a correct statement of the law.

# REDIRECT EXAMINATION OF A WITNESS AND EVIDENCE INTRODUCED ON CROSS IS UNQUESTIONABLE

In this next allegation of error appellate counsel argues the State, on two occasions, engaged in 'improper redirect' of witnesses.

The first supposed incident involved LaTeya Watts. Interestingly, defense counsel on cross introduced in to evidence the statement Watts had given to police. Defense introduced the statement into evidence. The prosecutor then, on re-direct explored that document – that was in evidence by defense counsel.

¶ 25. This Court will not reverse the decision of a trial court regarding evidentiary matters unless the discretion of the trial court "so abused as to be prejudicial to a party." Farris v. State, 906 So.2d 113, 119-20(¶ 20) (Miss.Ct.App.2004) (citing Beech v. Leaf River Forest Prods., 691 So.2d 446, 448 (Miss.1997)). "[T]rial courts have broad discretion in allowing or disallowing redirect examination of witnesses and when the defense attorney inquires into a subject on cross-examination of the State's witness, *the prosecutor on redirect is unquestionably entitled to elaborate on the matter.*" *Manning v. State*, 835 So.2d 94, 99-100(¶ 15) (Miss.Ct.App.2002) (citing Greer v. State, 755 So.2d 511, 516(¶ 14) (Miss.Ct.App.1999)). Consequently, we will not disturb a trial court's ruling on matters pertaining to redirect examination unless there has been a clear abuse of discretion. Farris, 906 So.2d at 119-20(¶ 20) (citing Lloyd v. State, 755 So.2d 12, 14(¶ 9) (Miss.Ct.App.1999)).

Goodin v. State, 2007 WL 1248164 (Miss.App. 2007)(emphasis added).

So, the prosecutor was within the scope of redirect. Nothing improper.

Defense may not have like the manner in which it was conducted, but there was

nothing warranting any relief on appeal.

Next, the second complained of error was not, as counsel describes, allowing the "State was allowed to explore the second discharge of the 9mm pistol." The transcript reveals nothing of the sort. To wit, the total exchange was this:

- Q. Did you see anything in her statement about a second shot?
- A. No, sir. I don't remember her ever stating anything to me about a second shot. [Transcript 291.]

The State would hardly describe that one question as improper extension of redirect. No error. Enough said. *Goodin, Manning, supra*.

No relief should be granted on this two part allegation of error.

# THE JURY WAS PROPERLY INSTRUCTED ON 'CULPA'S LE NEGLIGENCE' AS DEFINED BY LAW.

As the Mississippi Supreme has recently held:

¶ 22. Miss.Code Ann. § 97-3-47 concerns culpable negligence and provides:

Every other killing of a human being, by the act, procurement, or culpable negligence of another, and without authority of law, not provided for in this title, shall be manslaughter.

"Thus, culpable negligence is defined as 'the conscious and wanton or reckless disregard of the probabilities of fatal consequences to others as a result of the wilful creation of an unreasonable risk thereof." Evans v. State, 562 So.2d 91, 94 (Miss.1990) (citing Smith v. State, 197 Miss. 802, 20 So.2d 701, 701 (1945)). This Court more recently defined manslaughter by culpable negligence as "such gross negligence ... as to evince a wanton or reckless disregard for the safety of human life, or such an indifference to the consequences of an act under the surrounding circumstances as to render such conduct tantamount to willfulness." Shumpert v. State, 935 So.2d 962, 967 (Miss.2006) (citing Evans v. State, 562 So.2d 91, 95 (Miss.1990)).

Chandler v. State, 946 So.2d 355 (Miss. 2006)(emphasis added).

Looking to the record the court's instruction C-4 (Jury Instruction 10) closely followed the language as approved in *Chandler*. Such instruction and language was cited approvingly and cannot now be held error.

Additionally, there was no objection to the instruction or the language not claimed as error. Consequently, this issue is also procedurally barred as

having been waived.

¶ 56. This Court has strictly enforced the rule that, in order to preserve a jury instruction issue for appellate purposes, a defendant must make specific, on-the-record objections to proposed instructions.

Killen v. State, 2007 WL 1080391 (Miss. 2007).

Accordingly, this issue is procedurally barred as having been waived.

Alternatively, it is also without merit as the instruction, as given, was a correct statement of the law.

#### VII.

## DEFENDANT'S MURDER CONVICTION SHOULD NOT BE REDUCED TO MANSLAUGHTER.

Appellant requests that in the alternative to a new trial, that this Court reduce Brown's murder conviction to manslaughter. (A.B. 33.) The standard of review for a judgment notwithstanding the verdict grants a great deal of deference to the jury decision; all evidence and inferences are to be considered in the light most favorable to the appellee. *Jernigan v. Humphrey*, 815 So.2d 1149 (Miss. 2002). The verdict should be set aside only if a reasonable jury could not have reached conclusions that they did. *Alpha Gulf Coast, Inc. v. Jackson*, 801 So.2d 709 (Miss. 2001).

The State has produced an overwhelming about of evidence for a jury to find that Brown <u>murdered</u> Dillon. Needless to say, this killing was done with intent and malice aforethought. This is evidenced through her threats to Dillon and his girlfriends, and the fact that she came to Dillon's house the night before the murder, found him with another woman, retrieved her father's gun, then returned to the house to kill him.

Appellant cites *Wade v. State*, a case in which a woman, whose boyfriend was hitting her head against pool tables, grabbed a gun, told him he was not going to abuse her anymore, and shot him. *Wade v. State*, 748 So.2d 771, 73-76 (Miss.

1999). The facts of that case are very different than the one at hand. Brown's killing was not done in self defense, or to prevent great bodily harm. Brown kept returning the house, and on more than one occasion, attempted to get in after she found out another female was with Dillon. She rushed in the door as Watts left. Watts testified that she saw Dillon backing away from Brown, then he was shot. Her life was simply not in danger. The mitigation to a manslaughter conviction would wholly inappropriate.

#### **CONCLUSION**

The State produced overwhelming evidence to prove beyond a reasonable doubt that Mikimie "Kim" Brown was guilty of murder and attempted arson. She knowingly, intelligently and voluntarily waived her rights, confessed to these crimes in a written statement, received a fair trial and if there were any evidentiary flaws contained therein, such errors were "harmless."